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1. Name of Property

historic name AUSTIN TOWN HALL PARK HISTORIC DISTRICT

other names/site number

2. Location

Street & number Roughly bounded by West Lake Street, North Central Avenue,
North Parkside Avenue, and West Race Avenue Not for publication

city or town Chicago
vicinity

state Illinois code IL county Cook code 031 zip code 60608

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act of 1986, as amended, I hereby certify
that this /< nomination request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for
registering properties in the National Register of Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional
requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60. In my opinion, the property XT meets does not meet the
National Register Criteria. I recommend that this property be considered significant nationally
statewide^ locally.

( See continuation sheet for additional comments.)

Signature of certifying official
'

Date

Illinois Historic Preservation Agency
State or Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property meets does not meet the National Register criteria. ( See
continuation sheet for additional comments.)

Signature of commenting or other official Date

State or Federal agency and bureau American Indian Tribe
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Name of Property
Cook County, Illinois

3 County and State

4. National Park Service Certification

I, hereby certify that this property is: Signature of the Keeper Date QfAction

entered in the National Register

See continuation sheet.

determined eligible for the

National Register

See continuation sheet.

determined not eligible for the

National Register

removed from the National Register

other (explain):

5. Classification

Ownership of Property

(Check as many boxes as apply)

_X_ private

_X_ public-local

public-State

public-Federal

Category of Property

(Check only one box)

building(s)

_X_ district

site

structure

object

NumberofResources within Property

(Do-not'include previously listed resources in the count)
Contributing Noncontributing

5 buildings

0_ 0_ sites

structures

objects

5__ Total

Number ofcontributing resources previously listed in the National Register

Name of related multiple property listing (Enter "N/A" ifproperty is not part of a multiple property listing.)
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Name of Property
Cook County, Illinois

J County and State

6. Function or Use "
'

Historic Functions (Enter categories from instructions)

EDUCATION: School

EDUCATION: Library
RELIGION: Religious facility

RECREATION AND CULTURE: Auditorium
RECREATION AND CULTURE: Sports facility

SOCIAL: Meeting Hall

DOMESTIC: Institutional housing

Current Functions (Enter categories from instructions)

EDUCATION: School

EDUCATION: Library
RELIGION: Religious facility

RECREATION AND CULTURE: Auditorium
RECREATION AND CULTURE: Sports facility

SOCIAL: Meeting Hall

DOMESTIC: Institutional housing

7. Description

Architectural Classification
'

'

' —
(Enter categories from instructions)

Late 19'h and 20 tb
Century Revivals

Colonial Revival

Late Gothic Revival

Classical Revival

Materials (Enter categories from instructions)

Foundation Concrete

Roof Asphalt Shingles

Walls Brick

other Limestone

Narrative Description (Describe the historic and current condition of the property on one or more continuation
sheets.)

See Continuation Sheets
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8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria (Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property for"
National Register listing)

}

__X A Property is associated with events that have made a significant contribution
to the broad patterns of our history.

B Property is associated with the lives ofpersons significant in our past.

_X C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, or method of construction or
represents the work of a master, or possesses high artistic values, or represents a significant and
distinguishable entity whose components lack individual distinction.

D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield information important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations (Mark "X" in all the boxes that apply.)

A owned by a religious institution or used for religious purposes.

B removed from its original location.

C a birthplace or a grave.

D a cemetery.

E a reconstructed building, object, or structure.

F a commemorative property.

G less than 50 years of age or achieved significance within the past 50 years.

Areas of Significance (Enter categories from instructions)

Social History

Community Planning and Development
Architecture

Period of Significance 1900-1956 Significant Dates 1900, 1907, 1926, 1929, 1930, 1942

Significant Person (Complete if Criterion B is marked above) N/A

Cultural Affiliation N/A

Architect/Builder Badgley, Sidney R.; Perkins, Dwight H.; Berlin & Swern; Michaelsen & Rognstad;
Alschuler, Alfred S.; architects

Narrative Statement of Significance (Explain the significance of the property on one or more continuation
sheets.) See Continuation Sheet
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Name of Property
Cook County, IU,no,S

y ' County and State

9. Major Bibliographical References

(Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form on one or more continuation sheets.)

Previous documentation on file (NPS)
preliminary determination of individual listing (36 CFR 67) has been requested
previously listed in the National Register

previously determined eligible by the National Register
designated a National Historic Landmark
recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey #
recorded by Historic American Engineering Record #

~

Primary Location of Additional Data
State Historic Preservation Office

Other State agency

Federal agency

Local government

University

_X_ Other

Name of repository Chicago Historical Society

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of Property 7.6

UTM References (Place additional UTM references on a continuation sheet)

Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing

1 3
2 4

_X_ See continuation sheet.

Verbal Boundary Description

(Describe the boundaries of the property on a continuation sheet.)

See Continuation Sheet

Boundary Justification

(Explain why the boundaries were selected on a continuation sheet.)

See Continuation Sheet
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11. Form Prepared By

name/title Daniel Bluestone, Director

organization Historic Preservation Program, University of Virginia date April 2006

street & number P.O. Box 400122 telephone 434-924-6458

city or town Charlottesville state Virginia zip code 22904

Additional Documentation

Submit the following items with the completed form:
Continuation Sheets

Maps
A USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property's location.
A sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous resources.

Photographs

Representative black and white photographs of the property.

Additional items (Check with the SHPO or FPO for any additional items)

Property Owner

(Complete this item at the request of the SHPO or FPO.)

name multiple owners

street & number telephone

city or town state zip code

Paperwork Reduction Act Statement: This information is being collected for applications to the National Register of Historic Places
to nominate properties for listing or determine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listings. Response to thisrequest is required to obtain a benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U S C 470 et sea 1Estimated Burden Statement: Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 18.1 hours per response including the time
for reviewing instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form. Direct comments regarding thisburden estimate or any aspect of this form to the Chief, Administrative Services Division, National Park Service P Box 37127

DC 20503°"'
DC 20° 13 "7127; and the 0fRce ofM^agement and Budget, Paperwork Reductions Project (1024-0018), Washington
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Description

Summary Paragraph

The Austin Town Hall Park Historic District occupies a level urban site seven miles west of Chicago's
downtown. The district is made up of five public and quasi-public buildings completed between 1907 and
1930. The buildings stand on or immediately adjacent to a small four-acre park. The district is roughly
bounded by West Lake Street on the south, North Central Avenue on the east, North Parkside Avenue on the
west, and West Race Avenue on the north; the district includes the properties on the north side of West Race
between North Parkside and alley east of North Central. The district's five buildings represent a diverse palette
of turn-ot-the-twentieth-century revival designs: Dwight Perkins designed the Francis Scott Key School (1907)
in a spare collegiate Gothic style; Michaelsen & Rognstad designed the Austin Town Hall (1929) in Colonial
revival style; Alfred S. Alschuler designed the Henry W. Austin Branch ofthe Chicago Public Library (1930) in
Classical revival style; Berlin & Swern designed the Austin Young Men's Christian Association (1 926) in
Renaissance revival style; Sidney R. Badgley designed the Austin Methodist Church (1900) in Gothic revival
style. Despite the diversity of their stylistic sources all five buildings have a strong degree of architectural
harmony; they all share fairly uniform materials, combining a dominant use of brick with white limestone trim
Between certain individual buildings there is a purposeful architectural harmony; this can be seen for example
in the arcaded window motif shared between the Y.M.C.A. and the Austin library and in the carefully composed
symmetry of plan that exists between the Austin library and the Town Hall, the two buildings that have sites
directly on the district's park land. The five buildings in the district are all contributing buildings to the district
They maintain a very high degree of their original architectural and urban integrity. An attached addition made
to the north side to the Y.M.C.A. in 1941-1942 was designed by one ofthe building's original architects and
was completed in the form, style, and materials of the original building. This addition is considered a
contributing part of the Y.M.C.A. building. The architecture of the buildings within the district is quite distinct
from the form, style, and type of the largely residential and modern institutional buildings that surround the
district. The district's boundaries are similarly distinct.

The clustering of the district's five buildings, their forming of a neighborhood civic center, represents a
key aspect of their historical and architectural significance. The buildings constitute a center more through
proximity than through any strict or preconceived formal composition. The institutions that created the Austin
neighborhood civic center were built with the clear understanding that they were developing an important urban
landscape beyond the lot lines of their individual properties. Nevertheless, they were not able to thoroughly
coordinate their designs given the timing of their construction and the particularities of the individual sites and
programs. The ad hoc quality of the center's constituent pieces is apparent in the fact that the five buildings
actually have their primary elevations facing three separate streets. The Austin Town Hall faces south on West
Lake Street. The Austin Library faces north on West Race Avenue. The Francis Scott Key School faces west
on North Parkside Avenue. The Austin Methodist Church faces east onto North Central Avenue and lines up
with the west facing Austin Y.M.C.A. building facing west across North Central Avenue. The Library and the
Town Hall are the two buildings that have sites on the small park area that forms the heart of the district They
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Austin Town Hall Park Historic District, Cook County. Illinois

have ample setbacks from the edge ofthe park; the Town Hall is set back 135 feet from the southern edge ofthepark and the library stands 25 feet from the northern edge of the park. Both buildings have entranced centeredon the midpoint of their respective 28 1 -foot-wide street and park frontages. The buildings o^usfeMethods Church the Austin Y.M.C.A., and the Francis Scott Key School sit much closer to their fron" lothues, having only 10 to 15 foot planting strips between the front elevation and the sidewalks. The cZla of theTown Hall and the 100-foot spire of the church dominate the district's skyline.

The boundaries of the Austin Town Hall Park Historic District are quite apparent. South of the southernboundary line at West Lake Street there is the elevated embankment of the Lake Stteet transit line West oftnTwest boundary along North Parkside Avenue and east of the east boundary along North Central AvemTtoefaa mixture of residential bmlding types, quite distinct from the civic buildings within the district. There are alsoresidences north of the Austin Methodist Church and north of the Y.M.C.A The boundary runs east weTtbetween the .907 building of the Francis Scott Key School and the detached modern^STo ft slol Allfive buildings in the district retain a high degree of their original architectural integrity.

District Building List

FRANCIS SCOTT KEY SCHOOL (#1)
5 1 7 North Parkside Avenue
Architect: Dwight H. Perkins

Date Completed: 1907
Style: Collegiate Gothic Revival

This three-story school building with a fall English basement is built of brown brick with white
limestone trim The primary elevation, which is the west elevation, is symmetrically composed with seven
bays. The north and south end bays, which contain the two main interior stairways, project slightly forward of
the mam elevation. Each end bay also has an entrance from the sidewalk-^riginally the south entrance was for
girls and the north entrance was for boys. The central bay and entrance provides access to a wide stair leading
directly to the main floor and the school auditorium. The seven bays make up an arcade running across the
rront elevation—the arcades are dominated by large expanses of classroom windows, with three double-hung
wmdows, grouped together as a single unit, on each floor of each arcaded bay. The arcade springs from theheavy limestone course that runs across the elevation separating the English basement from the three upper
stones. A keystone projects from the top of each of the arcaded bays and decorative heraldic shields top the
piers separating the bays. The building's three main entrances project slightly forward from the main elevationThe projecting north and south entrances rise through a single story while the central entrance projects through

'

two stones. The school s north and south, side, elevations are unembellished with two windows on each level
ftat illuminate the main intenor hallways. One story attached wings at the northeast and southeast comers
house the school s main bathrooms. The attached three story wing with the school's two-story auditorium and
one-story gymnasium projects eastward from the school's rear, or east, elevation.
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AUSTIN TOWN HALL (#2)

5626 West Lake Street

Architect: Michaelsen & Rognstad
Date Completed: 1929

Style: Colonial Revival

Austin Town Hall is a two-story field house and community building built of red brick with white
hmestone trim. The primary elevation, which is the south elevation, has a rigorously symmetrical five part
Pal adian plan; the dominant central section, topped by a stepped tower and cupola modeled upon
Philadelphia's Independence Hall, is connected by the east and west wings to projecting east and west terminal
bays that are topped by distinct hipped roofs. The composition of the building is carefully balanced; the vertical
lines are established by the pedimented central entrance bay and the tower and cupola are counted by distinct
horizontal lines set up by the foundation, the limestone stringcourse that runs continuously between the first and
the second story, and the cornice and roofline that all run horizontally across the elevation. Red brick encloses
the exterior walls. White limestone frames the windows and also encloses the corners with prominent quoinsOn the primary elevation, the projecting end bays have two windows on each level, the wings have five
windows on each level, and the central section has three windows lined up over the three main entrances The
projecting auditorium wing dominates the north elevation. The white limestone quoins and stringcourse that
characterize the primary elevation also extend to the north elevation. Large arched windows open into the
auditorium.

HENRY W. AUSTIN BRANCH OF THE CHICAGO PUBLIC LIBRARY (#3)
5615 West Race Avenue
Architect: Alfred S. Alschuler

Date Completed: 1930

Style: Classical Revival

The Henry W. Austin Branch is a one-story library building built of red brick with white limestone trim
1 he primary elevation, which is the north elevation, is composed symmetrically around a shallow projecting
entrance portico supported by four classical columns with papyriform capitals. The entrance and the building's
windows are all arched with a subtle step back reveal in the wall. The corners are marked with vertical white
limestone panels. The library is given its balanced composition with a continuous white limestone cornice and
a continuous projecting stringcourse just below the cornice, which balances compositionally the vertical lines
set up by the portico and pediment and the corner panels. The cornice and stringcourses are continued from the
tront elevation to a point midway along the side elevations. On the interior there is a second floor mezzanine
level with a meeting room in the central portion of the building.
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AUSTIN YOUNG MEN'S CHRISTIAN ASSOCIATION (#4)
501 North Central Avenue
Architect: Berlin & Swern
Date Completed: 1926; north addition completed 1942
Style: Renaissance Revival

The Austin Y.M.C.A. is a handsome four-story athletic, community, and residential building built ofredbnck and white limestone tnm. The four main stories rise above the full English basement. Something of the
complexity of the building's functions is captured in the exterior elevations. The primary elevation which is
the west elevation, has large arched windows lining the first floor where the building's main public community
spaces are located. Six arched windows are located north of the slightly projecting main entrance with its
classically detailed limestone frame and its two engaged columns while there are seven arcaded windows to the
south of the entrance. The twenty-two windows crossing the primary elevation on each ofthe upper floors open
into the residential rooms and are simply opened into the brick wall without ornamented window frames- this is
the case with all of the windows except three windows on the second floor that have classical window surrounds
with modest pediments. There are modest reveals in the primary elevation that set up four visually distinct wall
sections. The largest section stretches through the main entrance, at the north edge through five of the arcaded
windows on the mam floor. This major section is flanked on either side by two sections that are set back
modestly from the main section; to the south the section reaches the corner with two arched window openings-
to the north a section set back a similar amount has three arched windows. An addition made to the north and'
completed m 1942, has three more arched windows on the main floor and sit back with a modest reveal from
the adjacent section. The main elevation has dominant horizontal lines set up by projecting sill courses and
stringcourses and a dentil cornice and a rooftop balustrade. All of these elements are constructed of white
limestone and standout against the red brick walls. One the first floor every sixth brick course projects forward
from the elevation, giving the building a sense of the rusticated stonework common in many Renaissance
palazzos. The secondary elevation, facing south, adopts the same basic treatment as the primary elevation and
is slightly longer than the main elevation. A notable difference is in the area on one of the building's first floor
athletic spaces there are blind arches rather than arched first floor windows—these blind arches extend the
arcaded motif across the entire elevation.

FRATERNITE NOTRE DAME (#5)
[Historically AUSTIN METHODIST CHURCH]
502 North Central Avenue
Architect: Sidney R. Badgley
Date Completed: 1900

Style: Gothic Revival

The Fraternite Notre Dame (historically known as the Austin Methodist Church) is a two-story church
and community building built ofbrown brick with white limestone trim. A 100-foot high spire and entrance
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bell tower that takes up the southeast corner of the building dominates the building's overall composition The
entrance is through a pointed arched limestone door surround projecting forward from the brick wall On the
south side of the tower a tracery window with white limestone trim opens from the otherwise unembellished
wall of the lower tower. The upper tower has tall vertical window openings with pointed gable dormers To the
west and the north of the corner tower identical gabled elevations with a dominant upper tracery stain glass
window open into the main sanctuary of the church. Below these two tracery windows are a pair of square
windows with limestone window surrounds. The east elevation terminates to the north with a secondary
entrance surmounted by a lower tower. The south elevation terminates to the west with a two-story community
building with three windows opening on each floor. The entrance to this section of the building is through an
engaged tower that while lower than the main tower spire echoes its massing and its openings. The church's
English basement is enclosed in rusticated courses of limestone. Between the towers and the gables on the
elevations the dominant lines of the building are vertical.
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Statement of Significance

Summary Paragraph
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aban f0mi inSpir£d by inn0Vative early-twentieth-century planning andreform .deals. In leading cities in the United States social reformers and urban planners proposed neilhtorhoodcivtc centers as an important means to promote civic order and patriotism among new urban residentespcially those arriving from foreign countries and from rural areas ofthe United States.' TheTustn Town
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and adLc m1; f
y^^^ AUStin Methodist ChUrch^^^^2* are locateZand adjacent to the four-acre Austin Town Hall Park, originally known as Holden Park, an area first dedicated

to public use in 1865. The Austin Town Hall Park Historic District is locally significance underlSS^
Register Criterion A m the area of social history. It also corresponds to National Register Criterion C for
architecture and community planning and development. The period of significance is 1900 to 1956.

Neighborhood Civic Center Movement

the h,„M
Uilt^r 7V°

the
J
si§nific

J
ant advantages of grouping their separate institutions in a single center,me buildings constructed in and around Austin Town Hall Park helped transform the late-nineteenth century

civic landscape of the independent village of Austin into a vital neighborhood center for the growing City ofChicago Austin, an independent village in Cicero Township, had been annexed to the city of Chicago in 1899
against the wishes of village residents who voted against the annexation. However, residents of Chicago and
the balance of residents in Cicero Township supported the annexation and Austin became a neighborhood on
the western edge of Chicago. Austin residents helped propel Chicago's impressive growth. In the first three
decades of the twentieth century, Chicago's population more than doubled. The number of Chicagoans rosefrom 1,698,575 m 1900 to 3,376,438 in 1930. The uncoordinated physical growth ofthe city struck many
observers as chaotic and poorly planned. Socially it seemed to accommodate an equally chaotic and troublingmass of humanity from diverse backgrounds and from disparate cultures. For city leaders, there was an open
quest.on about how this growing and shifting mass ofpeople located in the second largest city in the United
States would ever come to share a common set of civic values, a common set of civic virtues, and a common
social and political culture. They worried about how they could bring social unity and order out of social strifeand chaos. Impoverished and illiterate res.dents lived in deplorable housing conditions. Chicago's turbulent
abor history in the late nineteenth century, which spiked with the railroad and general strike of 1877 the
Haymarket not of 1886, and the Pullman Strike of 1894, helped create a sense of urgency in the discussionsamong civ.c and economic leaders about ways to make Chicagoans out of the many disparate peoples and
interests gathered in the city. The viability and vitality of the city seemed to hang in the balance.

fW m~S °{^nT15'*21 appeared briefly in *e temporary classical architectural ensembles of theCourt of Honor at the Columbian Exposition directly influenced the aesthetic ideal of early 20
dl
century urban
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planning. Many plans for civic and cultural centers were outlined in the 1890s and early 1900s in whichaesthete unity dominated The architects, planners, and civic leaders envisioned their plans as one means of

CKZ8
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u
eCOnomic *«* ™e various proposals culminated in the monumentalCity BeautiM vision of Darnel H. Burnham and Edward H. Bennett's 1909 Plan of Chicago, sponsored by tne

SLTJr'h '• f'^T °f^ «°9 Pl3n °f ChiCag°' °UtHned in a chaPter of^ Pi- -titled "TheHeart of Chicago stood the dramatic effort to create a civic and cultural landscape that would dominate all

n^T, °»
C°"te7°r5^ citv

f
aPe >

includi"g the modern commercial skyscraper. Calling for a centerof arts and letters on the lakefront and a civic and administrative center at South Halsted and Congress streetsBurnham and Bennett proposed architectural ensembles of such grandeur and unity, weaving together buildLacross plazas and open spaces, that they would actually dwarf the monumentally of individual commercial
skyscrapers. In fact the major administrative building in the Chicago civic center was to be "surmounted by a

Surity
1^881^ t0 See

" ** fdt^^ Pe°Ple
'

l° Wh°m U Sh0uM Stand as a svmbo1 of civic °*d<*

The lakefront center of arts and letters and the civic center were viewed by the advocates of the city plan
as citywide centers. Nevertheless, they also envisioned outlying centers that would effect a parallel "civic orderand unity at the neighborhood level. Burnham and Bennett noted the "squalid and ugly" conditions that oftendeveloped in neighborhoods on the edge of great cities. They encouraged public officials to provide for
neighborhood centers built through the clustering ofpublic and semi-public buildings. They declared that
outlying communities and neighborhoods should provide spaces for "public schools, and each school shouldhave about it ample playgrounds, so that during all the year the school premises shall be the children's center towhich each child will become attached by those ties ofremembrance that are restraining influences throughout
life. Next to the school, the public library should have a place; and here again the landscape setting should be
generous and the situation commanding. The town-hall, the engine house with its lookout tower the police
station with its court ofjustice, and the post-office, all naturally form a group of buildings that may be located
about a common or public square, so as to form the suburban civic center."

4
With its branch library public

school, field house and community center, church, and Y.M.C.A., all tied into the setting of a landscaped public
square, the Austin Town Hall Park, located seven miles west ofdowntown Chicago, represents precisely the
sort of neighborhood civic center envisioned by Burnham and Bennett as part of their metropolitan civic vision
tor Chicago.

Burnham and Bennett were not the first city planners to feature a call for coherent and harmonious
neighborhood civic centers. The 1907 City Beautiful plans for St. Louis advocated both a central civic center
and a series of smaller civic centers throughout the city, including one in the Soulard Market area In 1908 the
chairman of the St. Louis Civic Center Committee argued that "To build a beautiful city is a worthy aim- a
higher one is to develop it so as to mould the character of its people." He linked the grouping of schools', parks
playgrounds baths, and libraries ,n neighborhood center plans directly to a broader urban vision-he argued
that neighborhood civic centers would foster "the mental, moral, [and] physical up-building of the
neighborhood in which they are situated." Moreover, the "civic pride" instilled in the centers would "extend to
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every home in the district." These centers would provide the "socializing" influence in immigrant
neighborhoods while "serving as rallying-places for the development of neighborhood feeling, the lack ofwhich
has much to do with our present corruption and inefficiency in political life."

5
Davis concluded that quite apart

from their aesthetic importance" the social value ofneighborhood centers would soon make them the most
important feature of the modern city plan.

In surveying the history of the neighborhood civic center it is possible to see how this form of urban
planning developed m parallel with the vision ofbringing organized, supervised, recreation to city
neighborhoods as part of the small park and field house movement, and with the institutional initiatives of
numerous Chicago settlement houses.

6
At the same time proponents ofthe City Beautiful movement explored

the aesthetic and civic possibilities of grouping civic buildings as a way ofpromoting civic art In 1903
Charles Mulford Robinson, a leading advocate of the City Beautiful Movement, promoted "comprehensive
plans for the future development of all the public or semi-public institutions" not by themselves but rather in
relation to the community as a whole and to the other structures of its type." In Robinson's view public

buildings were "gregarious;" they had a much greater aesthetic and social affect when they were grouped rather
than built separately. Robinson argued that in grouping public buildings, "there is a civic gain, in the added
dignity and importance which the buildings seem to possess. Collectively, they appear to make the city more
pride worthy; they suggest the co-operation of departments rather than that individual sufficiency which
separate buildings recommend and which is at the root of so much administrative evil; they make the
municipality, in this representation of the mightiness of its total business, seem a more majestic thing and one
better worth the devotion and service of its citizens. They make it seem better worth living for and working for
as of larger possibilities of good, than could the same buildings when scattered about the town and lost in a
wilderness of commercial structures." Nor did Robinson envision only one center to serve or represent the
public; he argued, "in these days cities have grown too large to crowd into a single space quite all that is
important. In the physiology of cities it is not accurate to-day to speak of 'the heart' of the town- but rather of
a series of nerve centers." Robinson wanted public officials to take advantage of every public building project
to promote order, harmony, and beauty in the city. He sketched the importance of gathering public buildings
into centers and considering their designs in relation to a broader whole; he pointed to the "object-lesson" of the
harmonious groups of buildings at the Columbian Exposition and concluded, "that is the secret at the root not
only of comprehensive planning, but of civic art."

8

During the 1 9
1
Os, planners in Chicago and in many other major American cities turned with increasing

interest to neighborhood civic centers as an important component ofthe nascent city planning movement
Architect Ernest Flagg's 191 1 paper delivered at the Third Annual National Conference on City Planning titled
Public Buildings" pointed to the enthusiasm for civic centers and noted that "the opinion is rapidly graining

ground that no public building of great importance should be undertaken singly."
9
Edward H. Bennett

continued to promote civic centers in his city planning projects. In 1916, he contributed a chapter titled "Public
Buildings and Quasi-Public Buildings" to John Nolen's important book, City Planning . Bennett used the book
to extend the themes he and Burnham had outlined in the Chicago Plan. He insisted that "Public buildings may
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SS„T The educational centers were most likely to fit into neighborhood planninXatArthur Coleman Comey s chapter on "Neighborhood Centers" came immediately after Bennett's charter inNote s book. Comey argued that the "neighborhood center is the group of buildings and l^ds inwMchprovision is made for the various educational, recreational, and social functions ofle dty 7a s ourmental, moral, and physical up-building." 1 ' y ' '

'

'

City Club of Chicago Design Competitions for Neighborhood Centers
The influence of the neighborhood center movement was crystallized in Chicago in two importantdes.gr> competitions promoted by the City Club of Chicago in 1913 and 1914-1915. The?913 Zffi„sought Plans for Ae orderly development of a 160-acrc tract of undeveloped Chicago land into aSSneighborhood. The competition brief pointed out that "the outskirts of the city is bfing rapZ b^t upShomes wlthout that intelligent direction which is necessary for the good ofJcity anclits populateRecreat on centers and parks are not being located until population has made them absolutely necessary andthen at large cost for the requisite land. Nor are the essentials for good housing and neighboLod mstotonsbeing recognized." Competitors were instructed to approach their design "showing the Essentials ofToodhousing in the broadest sense, the best methods of subdivision of residential land, the best disposition rf space

loZtS

? t """IT,
Ce
lT

rSl

*f
m°St PraCtiCal^ and—gement. ofroads, the mo/convenient

location of stores and of public and semi-public grounds and buildings." Following these instructions thedesigners who submitted plans for the competition entries were notable for their consistent provision ofgroupedpublic and quasi-public buildings. These buildings provided a distinctive civic hierarchy and order in eafh pknW.lhelm Berhhard's first prize plan, for example, endeavored "to create a community center as an architecturaT'

tfieater were gathered around a plaza and park space near the entrance of the new neighborhood. The CitV Clubcon.pajt.on entnes were placed on display at the City Club building in March, 1913, and vividly demonXatedthe contemporary s.gmficance of ne.ghborhood centers within the emerging city planning movement. 12

In 19H-1915 the City Club sponsored a second competition that aimed to hone new designs for thecivic core of the residential ne.ghborhood, soliciting designs for a neighborhood civic center. George E

WV^rf£Cretary
, ^ ?£ C1Ub

'
dedared

'

"
eECh neighborh°od s«°»ld ^ve not merely a 'social' or

dff~t,l T^ ''fTu^ bUt a We" deSigned 8rOUPinS of«* m-y ™P°«** Institutions ofdifferent sorts belonging to or needed by that neighborhood. Not only would a desirable architectural andhmd cape picture be secured in this way, but neighborhood pride and action concerning neighborhood matters

7:luZT^mtT9i 5

e

P
e

n K
chenck used* **** desi8n *- she comp,eted^SS5Marcia Mead for the 1914-1915 City Club competition to illustrate her article "The Need For NeighborhoodCenters ,n American Ct.es," published in April, 1915, in the municipal affairs journal AmeSSS thenck
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insisted that the economic concentration ofpublic and quasi-public institutions would "promote the
neighborhood pride which is the foundation of patriotism." As if describing the neighborhood center that would
later develop around Austin Town Hall Park, Schenck pointed out that schools in her neighborhood center
would assume an expanded civic role, "The function ofthe school is enlarged to include an intellectual stimulus
to grown people as well, m the reading room, library and museum, and in night classes, lectures, concerts and
art exhibits. The playgrounds and gardens for little children and the athletic fields and gymnasia for older
people of both sexes are part also of the educative program. An auditorium, assembly hall and club rooms a
theatre and restaurant and an ample provision for parks fill the recreation needs of a neighborhood center- while
the churches or other places of worship, added to such philanthropic institutions as suit the character of the
district, supply the stimulus along spiritual lines. ... By wise forethought and careful planning, they could be so
brought into the general scheme as to harmonize with its architectural style and form a part of its beneficial
influence upon the community." The ideal supporting both architectural harmony and social uplift combined
to propel the neighborhood center movement.

The Village of Austin's Civic Landscape
In many cases, the reform vision behind the neighborhood center movement underestimated the

formidable obstacles to planning and grouping disparate institutional buildings together in the urban landscape
Neighborhood centers required an unusual degree of coordination between public and private institutions that
often approached their building projects in terms of their own institutional imperatives, their own budget cycles
and bond issues, and very much apart from plans and programs of separate civic projects. The Austin
neighborhood had several important advantages when it came to constituting a model neighborhood center It
had a local civic and business community that tirelessly advocated neighborhood interests. The fact that the
neighborhood had enjoyed a clear identity as a village, from 1 865 to the 1 899, perhaps helped local residents
focus on the distinct interests of the community. Their boosting ofthe community ranged from a major fund
raising campaign for a local branch of the Y.M.C.A, to a library committee that lobbied for a new branch
library, to meetings with the mayor and the park board to ensure the construction of the Austin Town Hall
community center. Perhaps more importantly the community had an established focal point for civic
institutions, dating from its years as a village, that served as a nucleus and rallying point for the extended
articulation of the neighborhood civic landscape. In 1865, when Henry W. Austin purchased a 280-acre farm to
establish a temperance residential and manufacturing subdivision named "Austinville," located within the
Cicero Township, he envisioned a park-like setting for new homes. He established tree-lined parkways along
neighborhood streets. The Austin station of the Chicago & Northwestern Galena division stood on West Lake
Street in front of a four-acre park named in Austin's subdivision "Holden Park." HoldenPark honoring C C
Holden, president of the United States Clock Manufacturing Company, 14

quickly became the c'ivic focus for the
village. In 1870, Cicero Township government decided to locate its town hall in Holden Park. The cornerstone
of the two and a half story stone building, topped by a distinctive cupola, was laid in November 1870 15

At the
same time that the town hall was constructed, the township also built a public school on the north side of Race
Street, fronting on Holden Park. In 1871, the stone contractor who built the town hall and school with stone
quarried from Batavia, Illinois, contracted with the leaders of the local Methodist church to build a stone church
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adjacent to the new school building, also facing south towards Holden Park and the new Cicero Town HallThese three building proved the village with a substantial civic presence around HoldenS ThTpS alsobecame the site m the late-mneteenth-century for community band concerts and leisure gamerin. Theneighborhood center's Key School and Austin Methodist Church were simplyfteSSX b^ldinesfirs constructed adjacent to Holden Park thel870s. The Austin Town Ha/communfty buMtagprovS
v^f ft

c°mmunlty organizations that had come to use the old Cicero Town Hall, as a meetingEn theyears after Austin was annexed to Chicago. Although none of these thxee original buildmgs on and adjacent toHolden Park survived beyond 1928, when the Cicero Town Hall building was"demolished^ pJtof thecon truction of the library and the Austin Town Hall community building, the three 1870s buUding providedthe important kernels for the neighborhood center.
8 proviaea

Austin Methodist Chnrrh

two fJ"^wT 3f"
A"

u
fn

'

S annexation to Chicag°> the neighborhood expanded rapidly as apartments andtwo-flats and higher density houses were added to the lots and blocks in the community. The increa^n thenumber of residents put considerable pressure on existing institutions that then resolved to buildTagger
buildings. The Austin Methodist Church started planning a new building in 1895, less than twenty-five yearsafter completing the building that faced Holden Park. Architect Arthur G. Morey designedZ new hurch^1However when the church leaders laid the cornerstone for the new building in 1 899, ftey had tu^Sd toCleveland architect Sidney R. Badgley for the design. Even though the church had to deal withTemconvemence of having no church building during the years of construction, it resolved to keep its locationfacing Holden Park. The church demolished its original building to provide a portion of the new site while

oZf™8TT^"'T l0t t0^ eaSt
-
at to northwest c°mer ofNorth Central Avenue and Race

s™^\^ ^ neW
P0thlC R^buUding, built of brownish red brick and white limestone window

ZTe1 CTSeS'^ m
uT^ f°r SerViC£S in May 1 900

>
™th a church membership that was largerthan the entire village of Austin had been when the original church building opened in 1872 Just as adjacent

institutions viewed themselves as ministering to the social, civic, and cultural needs of he community he

thelurl t J
1T^f^ a Vital roIe in *"** to religious needs ofthe community When

Neighborhood Uses for the Old Cicero Town Hall and Holden Park

HnlHeirP^?^
5™me

t

diateIy^ annexation to Chicago, the city's Special Park Commission maintainedHolden Park as one of its small parks. The Commission improved the park adding electric lights, a water
fountain eight-foot wide gravel paths, an ornamental iron fence, and many new trees and shrubs. A new
bandstand, added to the park in 1908, provided a venue for band concerts that attracted between two and threediousand people. Elms and maple trees ringed the perimeter of the park and chestnut, basswood, andTngneedle pine trees grew inside the park.

18
The former Cicero Town Hall building continued to occupy a central

T^HitntmL
ag

° ***t *"** *" ""^ ** USe *S
* P°Hce £«*"* after -exTfion xtTown Hall continued ,n use as a police station until May 15, 1918, when the precinct moved to a new station at
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5357 West Chicago Avenue. After that point, numerous Austin civic organizations used the old Town Hall for
regular meetings. The groups included Kilpatrick Post, 276, Grand Army of the Republic, Ladies of the GrandArmy of the Republic, Austin Post 52, American Legion, Auxiliary ofAustin Post, 52, American Legion, IdaMcKinley Tent, 21, Daughters ofUnion Veterans.

19

Public Schools as Community Centers: Francis Scott Key School
Like the Austin Methodist Church, the public school built in the 1 870s facing Holden Park was also

demolished at the turn of the twentieth century to provide a site for a new building, better able to accommodate
a growing neighborhood population. Constructed in 1906-1907, the Francis Scott Key School was constructed
of brick with three stones and an elevated basement. Designed in a spare collegiate Gothic style the Key
School contained fourteen classrooms as well a large auditorium and gymnasium. Viewed in relation to the
social reform ideals that provided the foundation for the neighborhood center movement, the construction of the
Francis Scott Key School had special importance. The school was designed during the architecturally
innovative and politically turbulent years, from 1905-1910, when Dwight H. Perkins served as the architect for
the Chicago Board of Education. He was appointed to this position with the support of social reformer JaneAddams who joined the Board in 1 905. Under Perkins's direction, Chicago public school design began to beviewed for its potential to provide the immediate neighborhood with needed public space for community needs
during the times m which school was not in session. In 1901, the Special Park Commission outlined for the
Chicago city council the utility of such an approach to school use and construction. Under the leadership of
Charles Zueblm and Graham Taylor, the Commission suggested that "school houses be turned over more to the
public than they are now for the purpose ofrecreation and entertainment at such hours and in such manner as
would not interfere with the regular work of education. With such a policy the public school would become
what it should be—a social and civic center, a resort for public education, recreation and entertainment "20

The
school was designed so that public access could be provided to meeting rooms in the elevated basement without
providing access to the entire building. A central wing projected from the rear of the school had a large
auditorium on the first and second floor and a gymnasium on the third floor. These spaces were quickly pressed
into service for community events well beyond the bounds of the primary school education provided in the
building. The school also included cooking and manual training rooms. The school's continued location
adjacent to Holden Park appropriately represented the broader neighborhood mission ofthe building.

21

Perkins also made efforts to provide Chicago schools with convenient playgrounds and to flood interiors
with ample amounts of sunlight and fresh air. The School Board purchased the three houses immediately north
of the 1870s school to provide a larger site for the construction of the new school. When the building was
completed in 1907, the older school building, standing on the south end of the larger lot was demolished to
provide playground space adjacent to the new school. The school also stood directly across the street from
Holden Park. The Key School's main elevation had projecting first floor bays that marked the girls' entrance
on the south, the boys' entrance on the north, and the main entrance in the middle. Contrasting with the dark
stone and brick of the site's 1870s building, Perkins selected buff colored brick and white limestone trim
helping to underscore the new interest in light and airy school interiors. To increase interior illumination
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Perkins placed two exterior windows on either end of the main corridors on each floor; he dedicated substantialamount, of wall surface to the S1x windows opening into each classroom; he drew ligh through me pnncSoffice, located above the mam entry, to interior windows that indirectly lit the mainLr leadfng to me
P

?*r 3""rSt fl°°r
-
Pf™ als° Placed ** sch°o1^ ^o main stairways, located in me north and southbays of the building against the front elevations, with landings lit by large exterior windows. As Perkinsdeveloped his various models for different size new schools, he set out to remove restrooms from toe basementand ,o place them on every floor of the building. In this regard the Key School represents adSSthe rest rooms were neither m the basement nor in the on each floor; instead, they occupiedM S

™^ wwings connected to southeast and northeast corners ofthe building. In the 1920s at the height ofme Austinneighborhood center development, the Francis Scott Key School enrolled about 715 students earfTyear

Settling the Unsettled: Austin's Young Men's Christian Association Building

HnlH
In

p
19

f '

Chica
f P"b«c school officials maintained the prominent site ofthe Austin schoolhouse on

Son? hTL
yT, Q,

S

n
ng demohshin

f
residences °n *e block just north ofpark, adjacent to the oldschool. In the early 1920s, a committee seeking to build a permanent Austin branch ofthe Young Men's

Christian Association adopted a similar approach; they purchased and demolished several residences on thecorner of the block, just northeast of Holden Park, in order to have the new building stand on an especkUy

of°NoTr'TT"8
-

The
,T" h°USe dem°lished f°r^ neW buildin8' which s^od at the noSfcornerofNorth Central Avenue and West Race Avenue, interestingly had served for years as a local boarding hoTse

of HoldTVT Z8rfaSed by^ Y 'M -C -A
" °SCar J°neS

'
a butcher wh0 maint^ a shop j

g
ust westofHolden Park, operated this house as a boarding house. Jones had 10 boarders living in the house as wellTshis wife, his mother-in-law and his sister-in-law. The boarders worked as teachers, stenographer saLsma!!cerks and bill collector Interestingly this diversity was soon accommodated in the Y.M.C.A. In reviewing theptans for the_Y.M C.A bmldmg ^Austinite announced that the building "will be placed on one of theSest

tZl T mfTTn
°f"^ Gardn£r

' [YMCA] eX6CUtive secretoy. °" a m<*<= attractive siteUhan any other association building in Chicago." The building committee looked forward to building "about the
finest and one of the largest Y.M.C.A. buildings in the country."

22
The site for the Austin Y.M.C.A seemed

especially appropriate because the institution came steeped in the organization's broader vision of civic goodwork. Chicago s Young Men's Christian Association was founded, in 1853, to meet the spiritual and socialneeds of young men settling into a new and unfamiliar city. The Y.M.C.A. expanded to include athletic
programs and baths and residences-built around an effort to guide the moral development of young men livingaway from home. In the 1910s, the Y.M.C.A. also included classes and lectures that aimed atAmeSz ng

&

Chicago s large immigrant population.
23 B

t

S

JlTT^-
1hBTrk

°f fte Chkag° Y -MCA
-

after World War r> the busil^ manager of the Y M C Apointed to buildings "bursting w,th men and boys," dormitories with long waiting lists, crowded educational

'

^ M C A^coTcludedTt « '^ ^ T,™*^"^^ ** DeSphe ™*°* at &" CaPaci* «*Y.M.C.A. concluded that 85 percent ofthe city's population remained outside the range of existing YM C Abuildings. The organization resolved to raise 19 million dollars to support an ambitious expansion progrt that
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would include the construction of 27 branch buildings.
24

The central Y.M.C.A. organization relied on
neighborhood based fund raising to build its branches. Austin had established a branch ofthe YM C A in
1912, initially operated in rented quarters in the old Oaks clubhouse, located at Lake Street and Waller AvenueA committee that included Perley D. Castle, president of the Austin State Bank, George J. Dehn president of
Austin's Compound Injector Specialty Company, Judge Charles S. Cutting, and A.H. Clement, a paint store
merchant, organized a drive for an Austin branch building, in February 1922, and quickly raised nearly
$300,000. The Chicago architectural firm of Berlin & Swern, which designed several 1920s buildings for the
Y.M.C.A., developed an initial plan for the Austin branch in 1924. The building was a four story brick
Romanesque-style building with a prominent corner turret and projecting bays." The committee then revised
and expanded their initial plans and raised more money in 1925, ending with a total local building fund of
nearly $500,000 contributed by over 3,000 individual donors. The central Y.M.C.A. invested $250 000 to
construct dormitories that could be rented to provide operating funds for the building. Berlin & Swern's final
building plan called for a more refined four-story Renaissance Revival style building. Arched windows with
white limestone keystones ran across the rusticated, receding and projecting, brick courses ofthe main floor
Rectangular windows opened from the upper floors, and white limestone trim, continuous stringcourses, a
cornice of dentils, a rooftop balustrade, and a projecting stone entrance frame gave the building's design its
visual sense of quiet, balanced, monumentality. The building's cornerstone was laid on January 25 1925 The
building was dedicated and opened to the public on February 28, 1926—over 5,000 people toured the buildings
on the first afternoon that it was open—they saw the building's two gymnasiums, swimming pool, handball
courts, club rooms, billiard and game rooms, lobbies and library, cafeteria, locker rooms, and the 208 dormitory
rooms on the upper floors.

As soon as the Austin Y.M.C.A. opened, it began fulfilling the civic neighborhood role suggested by the
broad fund raising campaign that supported its construction and by the prominent site it occupied in the
community's civic landscape. Local community organizations like the Austin Lions Club and the Austin
Kiwams Club began holding regular weekly meetings in the dining room and clubrooms at the Y.M.C.A. The
athletic facilities were heavily used. The residential section of the building provided a "friendly, congenial
atmosphere, ... a safe, clean thoroughly wholesome place for young men away from home" many ofwhom
were employed by neighborhood industries, including the nearby Western Electric manufacturing plant; the
residents came to Chicago "seeking their fortune thru work or thru education." For many the Y.M.C.A.
provided an important starting point for settling into the city and forming new friendships and social networks.
In the first four years of operation, the residences provided accommodations to over 2,000 men, said to be from
every state in the Union and many foreign countries as well. When the federal census enumerator visited the
Y.M.C.A. in April 1930, he found 165 men in residence. The vast majority ofthem were single and in their
twenties. Residents came from Indiana, Minnesota, Texas, Illinois, Iowa, New Jersey, New York, Ohio,
Michigan, Nebraska, Wisconsin, Louisiana, Pennsylvania, Massachusetts, Montana, North Dakota, Missouri,
Georgia, and South Dakota. They also came from Canada, Poland, Germany, Czechoslovakia, Norway
England, Ireland, Scotland, Wales, Sweden, and Italy. They worked as clerks, bookkeepers, chemist, engineers
attorneys, bakers, welders, locomotive firemen, pattern makers, salesmen, electricians, foremen, chauffeur
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laborers, draftsman, mill supervisor, waiter, pastor, press operator, inspector, service man, bank tellerphotographer, traffic manager usher, post clerk, jeweler, elevator operator, telephone eng neTpttaterdruggist, die maker metal worker, and janitor. In many ways this diverse mass ofyoung Sedne^leliving m rooms at the Y.M.C.A. stood close to the center of the urban reformers' vMcTrf^SSi^Sanresidents around a shared civic culture, crystallized in neighborhood centers. The Y.M.C A. had hs owinstitutional
I

aims along these lines. However, building when they did and where the Austin Y M C Ajuxtaposed its program with the broader urban and architectural movement promoting neighborhood civic

Slct T/ff &
,

SW
r'

S AUSti" branCh desi*n kd branch oommittSstfte EngLoodand South Chicago neighborhoods to closely model their own 1925-1926 buildings on the Austin branch X
architectural form style, and materials were quite similar; however, in Englewood2 Soul CWcaTutbuildings occupied sites adjacent to residences and stores. They both lacked the distinctive civk seTng Ltproved such an important part of the Austin branch development.

8

Chicago's Branch Library Movement: The Henry W. Austin Branch
In the months surrounding the February 1926 dedication of the Austin Y.M.C.A., Chicago city officialstook the next major step ,n the development of the Austin neighborhood center; they approved me consSonof a branchlibrary on a site on the northern edge of Holden Park just across the street from the newyTC Abuilding. The decision to bmld a new branch library came after decades of lobbying by local residents Tne

Ausl,^hTt KH
"^ btlming

'

fa
'
896

'
WhEn Emi'y Wri^ht Tt*™®** *«^Li the opening ofaLAustin branch library A socially prominent Austin resident, Thorndike was a civic activist who was founder^president of the Catholic Women's League, Big Sisters, and the Chicago Artists Association.- The firs,

tZ AT" I ^ ^Te
u
ed 3t 5642 WeSt Lake Street in a building that had formerly been a bESithshop. After a fire destroyed the building, the library moved, in 1910, into the second floor of a building

andZTcIT^ S,te
'

ab
?
Ve
^T' fl°°r Sh°PS

-
In l9U

'
""^ike joined her neighbors, Irwin R.^azenand John G. Schaefer, in collecting the signatures of 2500 Austin citizens on a petition that they presented to the

^TrT 7 ^^^truction of a new branch library; they presumably sought a free-standing building
rather than the recently obtained space above the store on West Lake Street. Despite popular interest the
library movement lapsed until 1924, when Schaefer again rallied neighborhood residents in support of a new
library Austin residents met with Mayor Dever to argue their case for a new branch library, the Mayor
supported their plan by proposing a $3,000,000 bond issue that would enlarge the central library and start a

1920?Chic3^
C

!T
PTTm^t

l

aimed
f

Pladng 3 branch in a" 50 wards of*e ci*- ^ ** "id-

o 'he bSnchlnSsTtTS, k T^f^ VaSt"^ °f them Were in makesWft <!uart^ ****
and IrtTthre^ T i™*^ °W°ed 0nly^ brancheS; eleven branches occupied rented spaces,SX t "T6 '°Cat

n
d

"?^ bui'dingS
'
SCh°°ls

'
aM other in^tutions not designed forhbrarV

geXe> '

" SPeC'al,y d£Signed branCh Hbraiy iDVOlved a notable if somewhat unusual civic

Mayor Dever's general support for an Austin branch led neighborhood library advocates to beginconsidenng possible locations for the library. Holden Park seemed ideal. It wasZ the block just east of the
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rented space housing the Austin branch. For years Holden Park had been a central icon ofthe local civicbndscape. Moreover, ,t could be obtained for library purposes without cost. In December 1925, the Board ofElectors of the Chicago Public Library officially requested that the city grant the library space in HoFden p£
HoZ ParkTd H ^ f^Y^^ PKpmd "^^^^ ** ^raryTlea'se on a section ofHolden Park and the terms of the lease were approved by the City Council in May 1926 In July 1926 the

HolSa^k fo
COmmissi°ned Chicago"^^ Alfred S

- Alschuler to design the Austin branch library for

The Center vs. The Branch: The Library and the Old Town Hall Preservation Camnaipn
To library officials, Holden Park seemed ideal as a site for the Austin branch; however, library plans ledsome residents to object that, "Town Hall, Austin's historic landmark is doomed." They disputed the claims

staked out for the center" of Austin. They worried about what would happen if the old Town Hall were
demohshed-the building which had stood as "the center of the community's social activities, and pioneers
recall many pleasant memories of gatherings of friends and neighbors in the famous old structure which has
stood like a sentinel watching the march of progress." Civic organizations that used Town Hall would be
displaced for a smgle-purpose library building. In December 1926, Lulu M. Snodgrass wrote forcefully in favorofpreserving Town Hall—"I should like personally to see our former Town Hall preserved for all time The
quaint building lends distinction to Austin. It calls attention to our suburb. When it is gone our identity is gone
. . ^

he city council ... is determined in the face of decided opposition and contrary to the prevailing sentiment
to deprive our community of its only neighborhood center and allow and urge the erection of a building in its

'

place which will be without a unit for a center! Without the feature more needed in Austin than a library
buildmg. Without a center, the demand for which has been growing by 'leaps and bounds' each year as
condensed living grows in popularity and expansion is absolutely necessary somewhere, somehow "

Snodgrass
proposed a vacant lot on Central Avenue as more appropriate and questioned that logic that suggested that the
library needed a large, elaborate building" on the most central site in Austin. The protest against the library
plan confirmed the long established centrality of Holden Park as a significant civic space in Austin In the face
of the protest, John Schaefer asserted that although "all are agreed that the new library will be of great benefit to
Austin it would not require the demolition of Town Hall. He hoped old Town Hall would continue to be used
tor many years." Indeed, the library board and the city council modified slightly the boundaries of the library

plot in Holden Park so that it no longer encompassed the ground where Town Hall stood.
3 '

Budget difficulties in the library system slowed the start of the construction of the Austin branch
Construction did not begin until 1928, and the building opened to the public on January 12, 1930, with more
than 600 people vis.ting. On the first day of business, 3,423 books were signed out to patrons breaking the
previous one day Chicago branch circulation record. When library officials started construction they declared
that ftey hoped to make the Austin branch "as home-like as possible with little of the institutional appearance

"
TTie library would have a central circulation desk with reading rooms for adults and children on opposite sides
ol the library. A mezzanine with a public auditorium would have an ornamental balcony adding to the
handsome interior. The aspirations for a home-like interior did not deter the library's architect from carefully
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conceiving the library exterior as a civic monument with a columned portico, with papyriform capitals over n»front entrance^ In describing the building the librarian pointed out mat the redwffiSTbuilding was designed "to harmonize" with the adjacent Y.M C A building Indeed the1,3 A \

floor oi the Y.M.C.A. Thus, Alschuler's design tended to underscore what was apparent to Austin «,Jr«\L

nlTXh^lI^
West Chicago Parks Commission and the A ustin Town Hall Community Center

a f
TheATm

u
T
°T Ha" WES^ fmal and m0st m°«™ental building conceived of as an integral part of theAustm neighborhood center The community and recreation building constructed by me W^s SgoTJkCommission was planned after the library but was completed and opened to the public in April 1929mnemonths before the library opened. As in the case of the library, the Town Hall project oriented whe TcL *nHcommunity leaders lobbied for neighborhood improvements with key public offidi XCrtS ° "wbuilding arose on June 6, 1927, when Chicago voters approved a ten million dollar bond issuX ZwestChicago Park Commission for rehabilitating parks and boulevards and for constructing several field ho! anda West Park admmistiation building" Soon after the approval ofthe park bond issue several^Austm res den^including George J. Dehn Frank A. Bentley, Frank W. Savage, Edward Snodgrass, Edward H Fox a^d Perley

comr i Tu-
3 C

°T
lttee

'c

31 S°Ught t0 C°nVinCe the WeSt Chicag° Par* Commission to build a majorcommunity building in Austin. Several of the committee members had worked together earlier to raise fondsfor fte construction of the Y.M.C.A. The committee proposed that a West ChicagoPaAs^^SL
Z^ZTSrI^ H

H

lden^ ^ W
t
S

l
CWCag0^ C°mmiSSi°nerS

'
inc.ud~elSs"fo„

president John Dill Robertson, who was a resident ofAustin, indicated their willingness to undertake a buildingproject in Austin On August 23, 1927, a delegation of two hundred Austin residents, "representing practicallyevery club and civic organization in the community, went to city hall to lobby the city coLil fo leWer of

T^nntn T,
*°T V"*™"** P«* Commission. With the support ofMayor WiffiaSSTThompson they succeeded ,n having the jurisdiction over the park transferred and planning for the Austin Town

and dedfcTd $^7 000 r,^P1*** Pa* C°mmiSSi°n trfmmed «* b»^ *»^ building p'oj™and dedicated $427,000 of its bond issue to a new building for Austin's Holden Park.

Hn.H ^P
"?****?al f™ ofMichadsen & Rognstad designed the West Park Commission's building for

2?£SSTS^7TT,e^,, MePendenCe Ha»- Whe« <* Commission had appealed tome Illinois legislature, in 1926-1927, for legislative permission to seek voter approval of its $10 000 000 bondissue, -Presented its case in three bound volumes with tentative plans for proposedbuM^ CMsZsMichaelsen helped develop the building plans for the Commission without charge. InmTJ 1927 heCommissi resolved that if the bond issue were approved by the legislature and the vote" me Commission

pi2z
e

^t::/zien^ neci7 buiidings in recognition °f the "-ritonorwo* ar™
buMiW built bv the r'

MlCahelsen
r! hls P^^ Si^d A- Rognstad received the commission of all of thebuddings built by the Commission with the money from the 1927 bond issue-including the golden domed
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Garfield Park Administration Building, Humboldt Park Refectory, Harrison Park Field House, LaFolletteMemorial Building, a Warehouse and Shop Building, and the Austin Town Hall community building Ine

LthZhtT r^H
edectIC

.

ran8e >
including Baro<^, Renaissance Revival, and Colonial. The Austin

™ht r ^ 1 ^Vn IC lmPOrt md W3S Hnked t0 reform visions of Americanization. It thusseemed fitting tha m the year following the Philadelphia celebration of the sesquicentennial ofAmericanindependence includmg a high profile restoration of Independence Hall, which Michaelsen & Rognstad wouldturn to this architectural icon as a model for their Austin design. The Austin Town Hall design followed byonly a few years the 1924 design by A. Epstein of Chicago's Stockyards Trust and Savings lank Building onSou* Halsted Street in Bridgeport, which also used Independence Hall as a model. In describing the bank
building in 1924 Epstein declared that Independence Hall was the "finest example ofcolonial architecture in
the country and that he hoped that with the building's historical associations it would be "of educational value
to the people of Chicago romcally, the patriotic overtones ofAustin's Independence Hall model did not barMichaelsen and Rognstad who were both the Illinois born children ofNorwegian immigrants, from reveling inethnic particularity when, in 1928, they used traditional Chinese architectural motifs to design the On Leong
Chinese Merchants Association Building on Wentworth Avenue in Chicago's Chinatown neighborhood TheAustin project reveled in assimilation while the On Leong building gestured proudly to ethnic building

'

traditions. To further underscore the patriotic theme the exterior of the Austin Town Hall carried bas-relief
sculptures of George Washington, John Paul Jones, William Penn, Benjamin Franklin, John Hancock and theMarquis de Lafayette.

Michaelsen & Rognstad's plans for the Austin Town Hall had to contend with difficult site issues
mcludingthe existing location of the former Cicero Town Hall and the proposed location of the Austin branch
library They considered several different options for locating the new building. The architects thought that the
best option for harmonizing the library and the new Town Hall would be to have them both face into the middle
ot the park—rather than fronting on the street. The difficulty with that plan was that it would place the
proposed 1,300 seat auditorium ofthe new Town Hall on the noisiest part of the park, along Lake Street with itscommuter and elevated railroad lines. The architects also considered placing the Town Hall along either the
east or the west side of the park, such a position would require the immediate demolition of the old Town Hall
and having learned from the debates over the library, the West Chicago Park Commission sought to avoid the

'

immediate demolition of the older building. Interestingly the neighborhood committee supporting the project
actually encouraged the West Park Commission to adopt a site plan placing the new building in the center of
Holden Park that would have required the immediate demolition of the old Town Hall. Dr. Edward Snodgrass
a dentist and an active member ofthe neighborhood committee, supported this plan, even though his wife had

'

earlier led the campaign to preserve the old Town Hall, when it was threatened by the branch library plans. One
important difference was that the proposed building would now have space to accommodate all the civic and
patriotic groups displaced from the old Town Hall. In the end, the Park Commission accepted Michaelsen &Rognstad s option ofhaving the Town Hall front onto Lake Street with a substantial landscaped setback of 135
feet between the building and Lake Street. In this position the east and west wings ofthe building would
provide something of a sound barrier to Lake Street noise for the auditorium, which projected north from the
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middle of the building further into the park. The plan was also calculated to avoid, narrowly the older Town

?oi Haft:
n

h r
Park - In Jrary im

> when bids were^ *»^^^^o^z
d-r^tt^^

Great community celebrations accompanied the various stages of the building of the new Town H„H ™Holden Pa* George H. Dehn, a key member ofthe committeeL suecessMly lobbld foriZcommunity building served as the marshal for the parade that would precede tteCi oSc^stone forthe bmldrng. Austm's busmess organizations, patriotic groups, and clubs all cooperated ktheSEandhelped orgamze a parade that was expected to have 3,000 floats and decorated automobiles that^dwM it,way through the mam streets ofAustin past buildings and streets decorated with flajtdb™ - IlSsGovernor Len Small led the cornerstone laying ceremonies. Unfortunately, for the plarmersT&e^eremonv

but^r "h
ST fel

H°
n
*?

A
/

riI ? £Vent rUini"8 ** deCOrations and *e A-*™™ es went onbut with a reduced crowd on hand. George Dehn thanked everybody "who brazed the blizzard" declarTmatregardless of the storm It was the greatest demonstration ofcommunity spirit that Austm^aTeVerSe "^
To
P
wl uful ^^fe

^
the

,

C0™erSt0ne'™ A* We« Chicago Park Commission opened thTnX AustinTown Hall to the public. Nearly 4,000 people toured the building on the dedication day and listened toperformances by the Amencan Legion band; the Austin High School girls' chorus- and Hto B^heeler anAustin tenor who sang "The Soldiers Chorus," The Sunshine ofYour Smile," and "O SoTmIo "<^eentirusmsm that greeted the opening of the building seemed to flow into its use. In December 1929 an official

To™ Half T&ct T
S^H^ ""^ "* ptoMUre " "d«« 8°°^ in at«S^S3?Town Hall. Their activities ranged from a musical recital in the auditorium, to classes in the gymnasiumswimmers in the swimming pool, to six different clubs using the meeting rooms, to anotherdTZS

^dtw:
r

kS:=.?i^
In 1929, just days before the dedication of the Town Hall, the West Chicago Park Commission passed are o ution officially changing the name ofHolden Park to Austin Town Hall Pal. TT^ZSSifte entiment frequently expressed by many of the old time resident, ofAustin" ofattachmemtornTdd TownHall Although the new Town Hall was designed to avoid the demolition ofold TownwTltEPark Commission began demolishing "Austin's Ancient Landmark" in August 1928« A^Ktog2Tth .Austmue showed the new Town Hall rising while the old Town Hall was being demolished[*? The frnaeeand the discourse around the development captured the sense ofAustin's civic continuTty and chanSJIf

took measure of the transition; the poem read in part:

In the old town hall of Austin,
In the years that now are gone,
Village government was seated;
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There its justice was completed;

Round that center the community
Was drawn

So last Saturday we saw,

Tho the wind was cold and raw,

And the snow was falling, falling

With a chill that reached the bone
We saw the glad elation

Of the Austin population

As they laid the "center's"

Cornerstone

Soon the old town hall ofAustin
Will pass out beyond recall;

Soon we hope the new library

—

'Spite of all that's been contrary

—

Will arise to be a sister

To the new communal hall.

Nay those two most worthy buildings

Which shall rise upon this park,

Be a means of better service

All that's good and is deserving

And spread light and kindly feeling

In all places that are dark.

So the old town hall of Austin.
Which has served so well its day,

As a memory will linger

Thru the future's glorious way.

After the workers completed the 1928 demolition of old Town Hall, none ofthe three 1870s buildings that
defined the civic center ofthe village ofAustin survived. It is notable that the new buildings for the school, the
church, the Y.M.C.A. the branch library and the Town Hall successfully held the "center" and fostered
cherished images of a "centered" and vital urban neighborhood. Building upon the historic civic spaces of the
village, neighborhood residents realized Chicago's fullest expression ofthe modern neighborhood civic center
Austin Town Hall Park with its cluster of neighborhood institutions could easily have been found amidst the
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idealized plans submitted to the City Club of Chicago's 1913-1914 neighborhood center competition InAustm, the ne.ghborhood center ideal was realized in substantial architectural and landTcapS
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Geographical Data

Boundary Description

Boundary Justification

constS7A^^
UTM

Zone Easting Northing
1 16 436412 4637670
2 16 436463 4637670
3 16 436458 4637624
4 16 436575 4637624
5 16 436575 4637558
6 16 436519 4637558
7 16 436514 4637395
8 16 436407 4637390
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Photographs

Austin Town Hall Park Historic District

Cook County, Illinois

Daniel Bluestone

University of Virginia
2005

Austin Town Hall facing northwest on Lake
ILCookAustin Town Hall HD 1

Austin Town Hall facing northeast at the corner ofLake and Parkside
ILCookAustin Town Hall HD 2

Austin Town Hall (rear) facing southeast on Parkside
ILCookAustin Town Hall HD 3

Sis^uS
IL CookAustin Town Hall HD 4

Key School facing southeast on Parkside
ILCook Austin Town Hall HD 5

No photo 6

Entrance detail ofKey School facing east

ILCookAustin Town Hall HD 7

Austin Branch of the Chicago Public Library facing southwest on Race
ILCook Austin Town Hall HD 8

Austin Methodist Church facing northwest at the corner of Central and Race
IL Cook Austin Town Hall HD 9

YMCA facing northeast at the corner ofRace and Central
ILCookAustin Town Hall HD 10

General view looking south down Central showing the YMCA (left) and the Church, Library and Hall (right)ILCook Austin Town Hall HD 11
6 '

Austin Town Hall facing northwest on Central
IL CookAustin Town Hall HD 12
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MEMORANDUM

TO: Mayor Richard M. Daley, City of Chicago
Brian Goeken, Landmarks Division, Department of Planning and Development

FROM: Tracey A. Sculle, Survey and National Register Coordinator-T^^y

DATE: June 7, 2006

SUBJECT: Preliminary Opinion for the Austin Town Hall Park Historic District

Austin Town Hall Park is a distinct district comprised of five buildings: Francis Scott Key School
(1907), Austin Town Hall (1929), Henry W. Austin Branch of the Chicago Public Library (1930)
Austin branch of the Young Men's Christian Association (1926), and the Austin Methodist
Church (1900). The district is roughly bounded by West Lake Street, North Central Avenue
North Parkside Avenue, and Race Avenue.

The Austin Town Hall Park Historic District is locally significant and meets Criterion A and C for
listing in the National Register of Historic Places for the following areas of significance Social
History, Community Planning and Development and Architecture. This area represents
Chicago's most completely developed neighborhood civic center, an urban form inspired by
innovative early-twentieth-century planning and reform ideals. In leading cities in the United
States social reformers and urban planners proposed neighborhood civic centers as an
important means to promote civic order and patriotism among new urban residents especially
those arriving from foreign countries and from rural areas of the United States Architecturally
the period revival styles (Colonial, Classical, Renaissance and Gothic) represented in the
district, while stylistically varied, work in harmony and share fairly uniform materials combininq
a dominant use of brick with white limestone trim.

While the history of the area dates originally to an earlier time period, the period of significance
for the district dates from 1900, when the first extant building was constructed to 1956 the fifty-
year cutoff for National Register significance. The Austin Town Hall Park Historic District retains
its overall integrity and clearly reflects both its historic and architectural significance The district
will make an excellent addition to the National Register of Historic Places

Pnnred on Recycled Paper



City of Chicago

Richard M. Daley, Mayor

Department of Planning

and Development

Lori T. Healey

Commissioner

Suite 1600

33 North LaSalle Street

Chicago, Illinois 60602

(312)744-3200

(312)744-9140 (FAX)

(312)744-2578 (TTY)

http://www.cityofchicago.org

August 7, 2006

Tracey A. Sculle

Survey & National Register Coordinator

Illinois Historic Preservation Agency
1 Old State Capitol

Springfield, IL 62702

Re: Chicago nominations to the National Register of Historic Places for
Cook County Hospital Administration Building,

1835 W.Harrison St.;

Goldbiatt Bros. Department Store,

4700 S. Ashland Ave.; and
Austin Town Hall Park Historic District,

comprised of the following five properties:

Austin Town Hall and Park, 5626 W. Lake St.

Henry W. Austin Branch, Chicago Public Library,
5615 W. Race Ave.

Francis Scott Key Public School, 517 N. Parkside Ave.
Austin Branch, YMCA, 501 N. Central Ave.

Fraternite Notre Dame: Our Lady of Frechou
Traditional Catholic Church (originally Austin
Methodist Church), 502 N. Central Ave.

Dear Ms. Sculle:

This is in response to your letters of June 6, 2006, to Mayor Richard M. Daley
and the Commission on Chicago Landmarks asking for the Commission's
comments on the nominations of the properties referenced above to the National
Register of Historic Places. As a Certified Local Government (CLG), the City of
Chicago is given the opportunity to comment on local nominations to the

National Register prior to being considered by the Illinois Historic Sites

Advisory Council.

At its regular meeting of August 3, 2006, the Commission voted unanimously to

support the National Register listings for all three nominations. The
Commission's resolution is attached. As part of their review of two ofthe
nominations, the Commission also made some technical comments, which are

incorporated in the resolution.



Please contact Terry Tatum ofmy staff at 3 1 2-744-9 1 47 i f you have any
questions.

Sincerely,

Brian Goeken

Deputy Commissioner

Landmarks Division

Originated by^.

Terry Tatum

Director of Research

Landmarks Division

encl.

Alderman Madeline L. Haithcock, 2"d Ward
Alderman Arenda Troutman, 20"1 Ward
Alderman Isaac S. Carothers, 29* Ward
Alderman Emma Mitts, 37"1 Ward
President Bobbie Steele, Cook County Board of Commissioners
Commissioner Mike Quigley, Cook County Board of Commissioners
Jason Liechty, lO* District Office, Cook County Board of Commissioners
Bruce Washington, Cook County Office of Capital Planning & Policy

Elizabeth Melas, Cook County Office of Capital Planning & Policy

Linda Peters

Emily Nelan, 4700 South Ashland LLC
Daniel Bluestone

Phil Krone

Tim Mitchell, Chicago Park District

Arnold Randall, Chicago Park District

Mary Dempsey, Chicago Public Library

Ame Duncan, CEO, Chicago Board of Education

Most Reverend Bishop Jean Mane Roger Kozik, Fraternite Notre Dame, Our
Lady of Frechou Traditional Catholic Church

Dale Kelley, Executive Director, Austin YMCA
James Keane, Executive Vice-President and General Counsel, YMCA of

Metropolitan Chicago

Lori T. Healey, DPD
Kathleen Nelson, DPD
Mary Bonome, DPD
Judy Minor-Jackson, DPD
Juanita Charlton, DPD
Lynette Wilson, Ref. #06-01012826



Resolution

by the

Commission on Chicago Landmarks

on the

Nominations to the National Register of Historic Places

for the

Cook County Hospital Administration Building,

1835 W. Harrison St.

Goldblatt Bros. Department Store,

4700 S. Ashland Ave.

Austin Town Hall Park Historic District

August 3, 2006

The Commission on Chicago Landmarks finds that:

1. The Cook County Hospital Administration Building at 1835 W. Harrison St. meets both
Criterion A for health/medicine, education and social history, and Criterion C for architecture for

listing on the National Register of Historic Places, with the following comments:
The nomination mentions, albeit briefly, the building's rear pavilions. It is the

Commission's understanding that the nominators wish only to nominate the administration

building, and not the rear pavilions that are soon to be demolished. Yet, and consistent

with the Commission's understanding of National Register guidelines, the Illinois Historic

Preservation Agency (IHPA)'s preliminary opinion indicates that the pavilions would be
considered contributing, having been constructed within the building's period of
significance (1912-1956) as defined by the National Register nomination. The nominators
should speak further with IHPA staff about this issue and how the pavilions should be
treated in the nomination; and

For the purposes of Criterion A, the nomination should more thoroughly discuss the history

of Cook County Hospital as an institution important in both local and national medical
history. The hospital is known for innovations in several medical fields, including
emergency medicine and the nation's first blood bank. More information on this aspect of
Cook County Hospital's history, including where these activities occurred within the
building, would strengthen the case for meeting Criterion A.

2. The Goldblatt's Department Store at 4700 S. Ashland Ave. meets Criterion A for commerce and
Criterion C for architecture for listing on the National Register of Historic Places.

3. The Austin Town Hall Park Historic District in the Austin neighborhood meets Criterion A for
social history and community planning and development, and Criterion C for architecture for



listing on the National Register ofHistoric Places, with the following comment:
that the church building included in the nomination, originally built as the Austin Methodist
Church, be identified in the nomination by its current name, Fraternite Notre Dame: Our
Lady of Frechou Traditional Catholic Church.

Now, therefore, be it resolved by the Commission on Chicago Landmarks that it hereby supports the listing

of all three nominations to the National Register of Historic Places.

The recommendation was adopted tMu^xhMi&Cfj-— .

David R. Mosena, Chairman "Y
Commission on Chicago Landmarks

Dated: g/V/zy



Fraternite Notre Dame
Most Reverend Bishop Jean Marie Roger Kozik,

Founder and Superior General
502 North Central Avenue, Chicago IL 60644-1501 USA

•Telephone (815) 923-7955 -Facsimile (815) 923-7956 -Mobile (773) 550-1214
BishoDJeanMarie@FraterniteNotreDame.com - www.FraterniteNotreDame.org

[501 (c) 3 Non-Profit Organization; all contributions are tax deductible ]

Ms. TraceyA. Sculle

Survey & National Register Coordinator

Illinois Historic Preservation Agency
1 Old State Capitol

Springfield, IL 62702

August 16, 2006

Dear Ms. Sculle,

This letter to indicate to you that we attended the August 3
rd

, 06 meeting dealing with
nominations to the National Register of Historic Places.

I have a request to make to you regarding the name of our church, and I know that the
Commission on Chicago Landmarks supports us in this regard.

I would like the name of Austin Methodist Church to be omitted so our name can appear in its

integrity: Fraternite Notre Dame, Our Lady of Frechou Traditional Catholic Church.

Anybody appreciates it to be called by his own name, and not someone else's, even though we
have the highest respect for it.

In the event we cannot be granted this legitimate right, we would rather like not to be included in

the Nomination to the National Register of Historic Places, and get however our place in the
history of our City, being recognized under our true and unique name:

Fraternite Notre Dame, Our Lady ofFrechou Traditional Catholic Church.

With our thanks to you for taking this request into account, please believe, dear Ms. Sculle, in our
sincere friendship, and gratefulness for your playing a part in the History of the United States.

God bless you.

Most Reverend Bishop Jean Marie + snd.

Founder& Superior General ofFraternite Notre Dame

Copy to: Mr. David R. Mosena, Chairman; Commission on Chicago Landmarks.
Mr. Richard M. Daley, Mayor of the City of Chicago.
Mr. Terry Tatum, Supervising Historian & Director ofResearch; Department, of

Planning & Development, Landmarks Division.





WEEKLY LIST OF ACTIONS TAKEN ON PROPERTIES: 1 1/1 3/06 THROUGH 11/17/06

KEY: State, County, Property Name, Address/Boundary, City, Vicinity, Reference Number NHL
Action, Date, Multiple Name

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA STATE EQUIVALENT, Streetcar and Bus
Resources of Washington, DC MPS, Washington, 64500948, ADDITIONAL DOCUMENTATION
APPROVED, 1 1/14/06 (Streetcar and Bus Resources of Washington, DC MPS)

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA STATE EQUIVALENT, Washington and
Georgetown Railroad Car House, 770 M St. SE, Washington, 06000516, LISTED 1 1/14/06
(Streetcar and Bus Resources of Washington, DC MPS)

ILLINOIS, COOK COUNTY,
Austin Town Hall Park Historic District, Roughly bounded by West Lake St., N. Central Ave N
Parkside Ave., and West Race Ave., Chicago, 0600101 5, LISTED, 1 1/1 5/06

ILLINOIS, COOK COUNTY,
Goldblatt Bros. Department Store,
4700 S. Ashland Ave.,
Chicago, 06001016,
LISTED, 11/15/06

ILLINOIS, LAKE COUNTY,
Lake Bluff Upton Commercial Historic District, 20, 31-113 E. Scranton, 26-40 (even) E Center
Ave., and 550 N. Sheridan, Lake Bluff, 06001021, LISTED, 11/15/06

ILLINOIS, MCLEAN COUNTY,
Cedar Crest Addition Historic District,
Roughly bounded by Constitutional Trail, Division St., Highland Ave. and Fell Ave Normal
06001022, LISTED, 11/15/06

"

ILLINOIS, MONTGOMERY COUNTY,
Brown Shoe Company Factory,
212 S. State St.,

Litchfield, 06001019,
LISTED, 1 1/15/06

IOWA, CLAY COUNTY,
Ross, Seymour, Round Barn,
Off IA 374,
Gillet Grove vicinity, 86001422,
REMOVED, 11/15/06
(Iowa Round Barns: The Sixty Year Experiment TR)

MASSACHUSETTS, FRANKLIN COUNTY,
Colrain Center Historic District,

!^ir
n '

1

Greenfiel
/

d
'
and Jacksonville Rds., Streeter Ln., River and Coburn Sts., Colrain, 06001057

LISTED, 11/1 5/06 '

MICHIGAN, DELTA COUNTY,
Minneapolis Shoal Light Station,

n
nJ^nh4rn

, ?I^ Bay
,

6 -6 mL S of Peninsula point, NW of Lake Michigan, Bay de Noc vicinity06001025, LISTED, 11/1 5/06 (Light Stations of the United States MPS)
vicinity,

MICHIGAN, LIVINGSTON COUNTY,


